IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STACY SANISLO and ERIC SANISLO,

Petitioners,

Case No. SC12-2409 5th DCA Case No. 5D11-748

v.

GIVE KIDS THE WORLD, INC.,

Respondent.		

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, State of Florida

THE CARLYLE APPELLATE LAW FIRM

The Carlyle Building 1950 Laurel Manor Drive, Suite 130 The Villages, Florida 32162 Telephone (352) 259-8852 Facsimile (352) 259-8842

CHRISTOPHER V. CARLYLE, B.C.S.

Florida Bar No. 991007

Email: served@appellatelawfirm.com

ccarlyle@appellatelawfirm.com

~ and ~

MICHAEL J. DAMASO, II Florida Bar No. 18558 WOOTEN, KIMBROUGH & NORMAND, P.A.

236 South Lucerne Circle

INTRODUCTION

This Court has accepted jurisdiction to resolve a conflict certified by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the decision below, *Give Kids the World, Inc. v. Sanislo*, 98 So. 3d 759 (Fla. 5th DCA 2012). In *Sanislo*, the Fifth District certified conflict with the other District Courts of Appeal on one straightforward, yet extremely important issue. Specifically, the issue is whether an exculpatory clause requires a specific reference to negligence in order to make the clause effective in such actions. The Fifth District has consistently held that a specific reference to negligence is not required; however, the other four districts require such language. This Court should resolve this conflict and establish a precedent that will create uniformity and consistency in the courts of this state.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts of this matter are not complex, and they are set forth in the Fifth District's opinion. Respondent, Give Kids the World, Inc. ("GKTW"), is an entity that provides vacations to seriously ill children. *Sanislo*, 98 So. 3d at 760. Petitioners, Stacy and Eric Sanislo ("Sanislo"), are the parents of a young girl with a serious illness, and they executed a liability release provided by GKTW as a condition of the entity providing a "wish request" to their daughter. *Id.* The release made no specific mention of releasing GKTW from acts of negligence. It provided:

By my/our signature(s) set forth below, and in consideration of Give Kids the World, Inc. granting said wish, I/we hereby Give Kids the World, Inc. and all of its agents, officers, directors, servants and employees from any liability whatsoever in connection with the preparation, execution, and fulfillment of said wish, on behalf of ourselves, the above named wish child and all other participants. The scope of the release shall include, but not limited to, damages, or losses or injuries encountered in connection with transportation, food, lodging, medical concerns (physical and emotional) entertainment, photographs, and physical injury of any kind.

. . .

I/we further agree to hold harmless and to release Give Kids the World, Inc. from any and all claims and causes of action of every kind arising from any and all physical or emotional injuries and/or damages which may happen to me/us, or damage to or theft of our personal

belongings, jewelry or other personal property which may occur while staying at the Give Kids the World Villages.

Id. at 760-61.

While at the GKTW facility, Stacy Sanislo was injured when a pneumatic wheelchair lift that she and her husband were standing on collapsed. *Id.* at 761. GKTW volunteers had told Ms. Sanislo to stand on the lift so that pictures could be taken (R 2:28). The lift collapsed because the weight limit had been exceeded. *Id.* The Sanislos had been directed onto the lift by GKTW volunteer and/or employee.

Sanislo brought suit against GKTW, alleging negligence. *Id.* GKTW moved for summary judgment, claiming that the release precluded a finding of liability. Sanislo moved for partial summary judgment, also on the issue of the release. The parties stipulated that if the trial court granted one motion, the other should be denied. Id. at 761, n.2. The trial court granted Sanislo's motion, denied GKTW's motion, and the case proceeded to trial where the jury rendered a verdict in Sanislo's favor. GKTW appealed. *Id.*

On October 12, 2012, the Fifth District issued its per curiam opinion. Sanislo found that the trial court erred in failing to grant summary judgment in GKTW's favor because, despite making no specific reference explaining that the

¹The Opinion was originally issued on May 11, 2012. Sanislo moved for rehearing, and a substituted Opinion was issued on October 12, 2012.

release would release GKTW from its own acts of negligence, the release's "language was broad enough to encompass" Sanislo's negligence claims. *Id.* at 762. The opinion noted that, in contrast to every other district court in Florida, the Fifth District has long held that a release need not contain express language referring to a release of negligence or negligent acts in order to bar such actions. *Id.* at 761. *Sanislo* certified conflict with the First, Second, Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal.² *Id.* at 763.

Judge Cohen concurred specially, noting that he would have resolved the case by affirming the denial of GKTW's motion for summary judgment if he were not bound by the prior decisions of the Fifth District. *Id.* (Cohen, J., concurring specially). He opined that, contrary to Fifth District precedent, the better view is to require an explicit provision concerning the releasee's own negligence in order to release such actions. *Id.* He noted that exculpatory clauses are contrary to public policy and are disfavored, and suggested that a lay person should be able to clearly understand what he or she is, in fact, releasing. Requiring explicit language would remove any doubt concerning an individual's understanding of the releases effect. *Id.* at 763-64.

²The Opinion certified conflict with the following cases: *Levine v. A. Madley Corp.*, 516 So. 2d 1101 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); *Van Tuyn v. Zurich, Am. Ins. Co.*, 447 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); *Goyings v. Jack & Ruth Eckerd Found.*, 403 So. 2d 1144 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981); *Tout v. Hartford Accident & Indem. Co.*, 390 So. 2d 155 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). Opinion, at 7.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Exculpatory clauses are disfavored because they relieve one party of the obligation to use due care, and shift the risk back to the other party who is generally not in as good a position to take steps to avoid the injury. They are also strictly construed against the drafter.

Though different in effect, indemnification agreements and exculpatory clauses are generally construed under the same principles of law. For 40 years, this Court has required explicit language in an indemnity agreement in order to indemnify the indemnitee for damages resulting from negligence. Relying on this reasoning, the First, Second, Third, and Fourth District Courts of Appeal have required explicit references to negligence in exculpatory clauses as well. This is logical and appropriate, because if they are governed by the same principles of law, an exculpatory clause should not be construed under a more lenient standard. Only the Fifth District Court of Appeal has not required such explicit language.

This Court should confirm that the specificity requirement which has been applied to indemnification contracts also applies to situations involving exculpatory clauses. By doing so, this Court will provide the ordinary, knowledgeable person with a clear understanding of what future claims he or she is

waiving. Such a rule will remove uncertainty from these actions, and will benefit the courts of this state by reducing litigation to construe ambiguous agreements.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

Forty years ago, this Court in *University Plaza Shopping Center, Inc. v. Stewart*, 727 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 1973) considered the issue of whether a contract of indemnity which indemnifies the indemnitee for damages resulting from his sole negligence must specifically state that negligence is being indemnified. This Court found that such language was required, and this Court has expanded *University Plaza's* reasoning to require such specific language in other contexts regarding indemnification.

Often relying on *University Plaza* and its progeny, four district courts of appeal in this state have recognized that indemnity agreements and exculpatory clauses are governed by the same general principals of law, and they have required specific language in such clauses when the drafter of the clause seeks to be released from his or her own negligence. Such a requirement is supported by public policy which looks on such clauses with disfavor and construes them against the drafter. Such a requirement removes ambiguity which often is only resolved at the cost of judicial labor and expense to the parties. Such a requirement is in keeping with this Court's reasoning in *University Plaza* and the line of cases that followed. This Court should resolve the conflict and rule that the Fifth District join the other district courts of appeal in requiring an express

reference to negligence in order to render an exculpatory clause effective in such actions.

ISSUE: AN EXCULPATORY CLAUSE SHOULD CONTAIN AN EXPRESS REFERENCE TO NEGLIGENCE IN ORDER TO BE EFFECTIVE IN SUCH ACTIONS.³

"An exculpatory clause purports to deny an injured party the right to recover damages from a person negligently causing his injury." *Cain v. Banka*, 932 So. 2d 575, 578 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006). As the Fifth District has repeatedly recognized, they are "by public policy disfavored in the law because they relieve one party of the obligation to use due care, and shift the risk of injury to the party who is probably least equipped to take the necessary precautions to avoid injury and bear the risk of loss." *Tatman v. Space Coast Kennel Club, Inc.*, 27 So. 3d 108, 110 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009); *Cain*, 932 So. 2d at 578; *Loewe v. Seagate Homes, Inc.*, 987 So. 2d 758, 760 (Fla. 5th DCA 2008). This being the case, they are strictly construed against the party seeking to be relieved from liability. *Id*.

Given the public policy disfavoring such clauses, the courts of this state have consistently held that they are only enforceable to the extent that an ordinary and knowledgeable person would know what they are contracting away. *Cain*, 932 So. 2d at 578. Similar policy considerations are present when a contract of

³This case, like *Kirton v. Fields*, 997 So. 2d 349 (Fla. 2008), concerns the enforceability of a pre-injury release, which is a question of law arising from undisputed facts. Therefore, the standard of review is de novo. *Id.* at 352.

indemnification seeks to indemnify a party against its own wrongful acts. *Charles Poe Masonry, Inc. v. Spring Lock Scaffolding Rental Equip. Co.*, 374 So. 2d 487, 489 (Fla. 1979).

Forty years ago, this Court considered the issue of whether a contract of indemnity which indemnifies the indemnitee for damages resulting from his sole negligence must specifically state that negligence is being indemnified. *University Plaza Shopping Center, Inv. v. Stewart*, 727 So. 2d 507, 512 (Fla. 1973). It held that, in order to be effective, a "specific provision protecting the indemnitee from his own negligence" must be included. *Id.* at 511. *University Plaza* limited its holding to only those situations where liability resulted *solely* from the negligence of the indemnitee. *Id.* at 512.

Six years later, this Court held that indemnity contracts which attempt to indemnify a party against its own wrongful conduct will be enforced "only if they express an intent to indemnify against the indemnitee's own wrongful acts in clear and unequivocal terms." *Charles Poe Masonry, Inc. v. Spring Lock Scaffolding Rental Equip. Co.*, 374 So. 2d 487, 489 (Fla. 1979). This Court noted that *University Plaza* was limited to instances where liability was based solely on the fault of the indemnitee, but recognized that the "public policy underlying that decision applies with equal force" to situations where the indemnitor and

indemnitee are jointly liable. *Id.* at 489-90. It stated that under "classic principles of indemnity, courts of law rightly frown upon the underwriting of wrongful conduct, whether it stands alone or is accompanied by other wrongful acts." *Id.*

This trend of requiring explicit language in the indemnity context continued with this Court's decision in *Cox Cable Corp. v. Gulf Power Co.*, 591 So. 2d 627 (Fla. 1992), decided over 20 years ago. In *Cox Cable*, this Court reaffirmed the holding of *Charles Poe Masonry*, and cited the public policy underlying the holding of that case. *Cox Cable*, 591 So. 2d at 629.

Given the reasoning and public policy of this line of cases, many Florida courts have in turn applied their reasoning to cases involving exculpatory clauses. This is appropriate and correct because, even as the Fifth District has recognized, indemnity clauses and exculpatory clauses are governed by similar principles of law. As that court stated:

Although there is a distinction in definition between an exculpatory clause and an indemnity clause in a contract, they both attempt to shift ultimate responsibility for negligent injury, and so are generally construed by the same principles of law. An exculpatory clause purports to deny an injured party the right to recover damages from the person negligently causing his injury. An indemnification clause attempts to shift the responsibility for the payment of damages to someone other than the negligent party (sometimes back to the injured party, thus producing the same result as an exculpatory provision).

O'Connell v. Walt Disney World Co., 413 So. 2d 444, 446 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) (emphasis added). Because the same principles of law apply, numerous courts have taken this Court's requirement of explicitness set forth in *University Plaza* and *Charles Poe Masonry* and applied it to cases involving exculpatory clauses over the decades.

In Goyings v. Jack and Ruth Eckerd Foundation, 403 So. 2d 1144 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), the Second District recognized that while previous Florida law required that the language of an exculpatory clause be clear and unequivocal, courts differed as to what exactly that meant. *Id.* at 1146. Citing *University Plaza*, Goyings noted that this Court "held that to exculpate the indemnitee from liability occasioned by his own negligence, a contract must include an explicit provision to that effect." Id. It further noted that the rationale behind University Plaza's "specificity requirement was to ensure that the contracting party is alerted to the meaning of the exculpatory clause." Id. Goyings reversed a summary judgment granted on the release and found that in order to be effective, an exculpatory clause must "explicitly" state that the one seeking to be released "would be absolved from liability from injuries resulting from its negligence." Id. at 1146. The Second District has consistently required such specificity. Rosenburg v. Cape Coral Plumbing, Inc., 920 So. 2d 61, 66 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) (reversing summary

judgment on release where it did not "expressly state" that negligence was being released); *Murphy v. Young Men's Christian Ass'n of Lake Wales, Inc.*, 974 So. 2d 565, 568-69 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008) (citing *Goyings* and noting its requirement that a release from negligence must be explicitly stated).

In *Van Tuyn v. Zurich American Insurance Co.*, 447 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), the court found that for an exculpatory clause to be effective, "it must clearly state that it releases the party from liability for its own negligence." *Id.* at 320. *Van Tuyn* then noted "that this must be a clear and unequivocal statement was emphasized" by this Court in *University Plaza* "in the context of an indemnity clause in a contract." *Id.* Thus, the Fourth District "has held that an exculpatory agreement must expressly include the term 'negligence' to . . . be clear and unequivocal." *Bender v. CareGivers of Am., Inc.*, 42 So. 3d 893, 894 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010) (*quoting Travent, Ltd., v. Schecter*, 718 So. 2d 939, 940 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (requiring a specific reference to negligence to be effective as a matter of law)).

Similarly, the First District in *Levine v. A. Madley Corporation*, 516 So. 2d 1101 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), cited *University Plaza* as well as *Goyings* in holding that an exculpatory clause will only be effective if it clearly states that it releases a party from his own negligence. *Id.* at 1103. *See also Hopkins v. The Boat Club*,

Inc., 866 So. 2d 108 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004) (noting that the First District is "more closely aligned with the view that the appellee's negligence must be specifically mentioned").

As these cases reveal, the body of law requiring explicit language in an exculpatory clause in order to release one from his own negligence has its roots in this Court's *University Plaza* and *Charles Poe Masonry* decisions, with good reason. The same principles of law apply in the contexts of indemnification and exculpatory clauses. *O'Connell*, 413 So. 2d at 446; *Charles Poe Masonry*, 374 So. 2d at 489. Both are disfavored for reasons of public policy, and both will be enforced only when the opposing party clearly understands what rights he is giving up.

Further, an exculpatory clause relieves "one party of the obligation to use due care, and shift the risk of injury to the party who is probably least equipped to take the necessary precautions to avoid injury and bear the risk of loss." *Tatman v. Space Coast Kennel Club, Inc.*, 27 So. 3d 108, 110 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009). Given the usual imbalance of power between the parties and the reality that indemnification agreements are usually entered into at arm's length, it is illogical to construe indemnification agreements more strictly. In *Geise v. County of Niagara*, 458 N.Y.S. 2d 162 (N.Y. 1983), the court found that exculpatory

agreements should be more strictly construed than indemnity agreements. As the court stated:

The only time that this general rule of strict judicial construction has been relaxed is where the courts have dealt with indemnification agreements. This is in recognition of the fact that these agreements are usually negotiated at arm's length between two businesses and are merely a means allocating between the two contracting parties the risk of liability to third parties, essentially through the employment of insurance.

Id. at 472. The *Geise* court went on to note that it was not construing an indemnification agreement but rather "an exculpatory agreement which has the potential of depriving an injured plaintiff of a remedy. In such cases, the courts have applied exacting standards in evaluating the language used." *Id.*

Applying a more lenient standard in the context of exculpatory clauses does not make sense given the context in which they often arise. As this Court has noted, public policy and the relationship of the parties are significant factors in determining enforceability of exculpatory clauses, and they have not been enforced "where the relative bargaining power of the contracting parties is not equal and the clause seeks to exempt from liability for negligence the party who occupies a superior bargaining position." *Ivey Plants, Inc. v. FMC Corp.*, 282 So. 2d 205, 208 (Fla. 1973). By not including explicit language, the possibility that an average, ordinary and knowledgeable person (not a business person) would not understand

what they were releasing in greatly increased. *Sanislo*, 98 So. 3d at 763 (Cohen, J., concurring specially).

The Fifth District's diversion from the other courts of appeal on this issue stems from Hardage Enterprises, Inc. v. Fidesys Corp., 570 So. 2d 436 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) where the court rejected the argument that a release must contain the word "negligence" to be effective. Hardage noted that "the University Plaza case is readily distinguishable because it dealt with an indemnification agreement rather than an exculpatory release. In the instant case, of course, we are concerned only with the latter." Id. at 438. The court then mentioned the O'Connell decision which explained the difference between an exculpatory clause and an indemnification agreement, and again addressed *University Plaza*, stating that "the Florida Supreme Court limited its holding to the factual situation and determined that the use of the general term 'indemnify . . . against any and all claims' does not disclose an intention to indemnify for consequences arising solely from the negligence of the indemnitee." *Id.* at 438.

It should be noted that *Hardage* did not cite this Court's *Charles Poe Masonry* or *Cox Cable* decisions which expanded the *University Plaza* reasoning and did away with the limitation to the specific circumstances of the case. If the *Hardage* court believed that *University Plaza's* limiting language confined it to the

specific situation in that case, it would perhaps explain why it refused to apply the *University Plaza* specificity requirements.

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