#### IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

STACY SANISLO and ERIC SANISLO, Case No. SC12-2409

Petitioners, 5th DCA Case No. 5D11-748

VS.

GIVE KIDS THE WORLD, INC.,

Respondent.

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On review from the Fifth District Court of Appeal

\_\_\_\_\_

#### O'CONNOR & O'CONNOR, LLC

840 South Denning Drive, Suite 200 Winter Park, Florida 32789 (407) 843-2100 Telephone (407) 843-2061 Facsimile

#### DENNIS R. O'CONNOR, ESQ.

Florida Bar No. 376574 doconnor@oconlaw.com

# DEREK J. ANGELL, ESQ.

Florida Bar No. 73449 dangell@oconlaw.com

# MATTHEW J. HAFTEL, ESQ.

Florida Bar No. 272190 mhaftel@oconlaw.com Counsel for Respondent Give Kids the World, Inc.

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

fail unless an "ordinary and knowledgeable" person would not understand what he or she is contracting away. *Southworth & McGill, P.A. v. S. Bell Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 580 So. 2d 628, 634 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

Challenges to exculpatory clauses are therefore grounded either on ambiguity or public policy. This Court granted jurisdiction to resolve a conflict that solely impacts the ambiguity prong. The Fifth District expressly rejected the Sanislos' argument that Give Kids's clause was void for public policy reasons, *Give Kids the World*, 98 So. 3d at 762-63, and there is no independent jurisdictional basis to review that finding. Moreover, Petitioners did not argue that the contract was against public policy in their Initial Brief; that issue has been abandoned. *Hoskins v. State*, 75 So. 3d 250, 257 (Fla. 2011).

Although Give Kids's contract does not specifically include "negligence" among its terms, it does contain the word "liability." Petitioners urge this Court to adopt a bright-line rule that would per se invalidate all exculpatory clauses unless they include the word "negligence." Logic and common sense dictate that this illadvised approach must be rejected.

First, the term "negligence" is a legal term of art which courts of this state take pains to define for juries. *See* Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Civ.) 401.4 ("Negligence is the failure to use reasonable care, which is the care that a reasonably careful person would use under like circumstances," etc.). Give Kids submits that a reasonably

knowledgeable non-lawyer would derive more import from the word "liability" than the word "negligence." *See Southworth & McGill*, 580 So. 2d at 629-30 (where the First District enforced an exculpatory clause that referenced "liability" and "omission or errors" but not "negligence"). The Sanislos' proposed rule would transform the present test of whether the exculpating party understood the agreement to whether the drafter was aware of case law requiring magic words.

Judge Cohen observed that "[t]he other district courts of appeal have recognized how simple it is to add such a clause in a release." *Give Kids the World*, 98 So. 3d at 763-64 (COHEN, J., concurring). With deference to his honor, the suggested bright-line rule does not recognize that the exculpating party's comprehension is the focus of the inquiry. An ordinarily intelligent person would understand that Give Kids would not be liable for injuries suffered during the vacation. After all, the fact that Judge Cohen *concurred* evinces his honor's necessary conclusion that the contract was "clear and unequivocal" even without a reference to negligence.

This leads to the second problem with the proposed rule, which is that Give Kids's language would never mean *anything* if it were ineffective to bar a negligence action. It is unreasonable to suppose that Mrs. Sanislo read the pertinent language and believed it to be a nullity. Additionally, a hypothetical scenario is easy to imagine where Mrs. Sanislo had suffered an injury on Give

Kids's property that was not the result of Give Kids's negligence. If that were the case, Give Kids would not be liable in the first place because an accident by itself does not give rise to an inference of negligence. *Miller v. Wallace*, 591 So. 2d 971, 973 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). The clause would again result as a nullity because there would be no liability to exculpate.

It is equally unreasonable to conclude that an ordinarily intelligent person would have been unsure of the contract's ramifications under our facts. Indeed, the challenged language contemplated "injuries encountered in connection with transportation, … entertainment, [and] photographs." It is difficult to imagine more precise language which might encompass Mrs. Sanislo's injury – she fell while posing for a picture during a recreational carriage ride.

Petitioners somehow assert that "[b]y listing these types of injuries Give Kids obviously intended to limit the scope of the release to the negligence of third parties." (Initial Brief on the Merits at 18.) To the contrary, the clause states that the Sanislos "hereby release Give Kids the World, Inc. and all of its agents, officers, directors, servants and employees" from, among other things, liability for injuries arising out of the activities listed above. Presupposing that this language only pertains to third parties is pure conjecture. Apparently attempting to create an ambiguity where none exists, Petitioners' characterization does not accurately reflect the contractual language.

Third, given the fundamental nature of contracts, adopting Petitioners' bright-line rule would not streamline or minimize litigation to any degree. Despite the facial appeal of a simplistic bright-line approach, contracts are inherently unique, and future litigants are certain to formulate new arguments for and against future clauses. To be sure, the presence of the word "negligence" does not automatically render an exculpatory clause enforceable. *See Loewe v. Seagate Homes, Inc.*, 987 So. 2d 758, 760 (Fla. 5th DCA 2008) (holding that a homebuilders' exculpatory clause that purported to exculpate damages due to "negligence" was nevertheless unenforceable in a negligence action).

Petitioners' bright-line test would only operate to invalidate detailed, readily ascertainable contracts where the wayward drafter was not fully apprised of a common law rule requiring a magic word. This artificial standard would assist neither Florida's courts nor its litigants. The well settled principles of contract interpretation, long followed by the Fifth District as well as the four others, are fully sufficient to litigate exculpatory clauses on a case-by-case basis. Give Kids's contract is understandable to a reasonable person of ordinary intelligence, thoroughly contemplates the activity which led to Mrs. Sanislo's injury, and unambiguously bars her negligence action.

# How We Got Here – The Interplay between Indemnity and Exculpation Petitioners' Initial Brief focuses on a line of Supreme Court indemnification

cases; namely, *Cox Cable Corp. v. Gulf Power Co.*, 591 So. 2d 627 (Fla. 1992); *Charles Poe Masonry, Inc. v. Spring Lock Scaffolding Rental Equip. Co.*, 374 So. 2d 487 (Fla. 1979); and *Univ. Plaza Shopping Ctr., Inc. v. Stewart*, 272 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 1973). A necessary premise implicit throughout the Initial Brief is that principles governing the interpretation of indemnity clauses should pertain equally to exculpatory clauses. The Give Kids contract does not purport to indemnify. And while similar, there is no disputing that there is a "marked and significant distinction" between indemnity and exculpation. *Ivey Plants, Inc. v. FMC Corp.*, 282 So. 2d 205, 207-208 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973)<sup>4</sup> (explaining the clauses' effects in detail<sup>5</sup>), *cert. denied*, 289 So. 2d 731 (1974). Examining the contexts in which they arise demonstrate that a blind adherence to indemnity principles is not only unnecessary but unwise when applied to exculpation.

To begin, even a cursory review of *Cox Cable*, *Charles Poe Masonry*, and *University Plaza* reveals the enormous difference in their facts and those here. In *University Plaza*, the non-party deceased was an employee of a barber shop that leased property from a shopping center. 272 So. 2d at 508. The widow filed suit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Initial Brief asserts that *Ivey Plants* was a decision from this Court. (Initial Brief at iv, 14.) It was issued by the Fourth District. 282 So. 2d 205.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> While informative, *Ivey Plants* does not directly assist in resolving the narrow question here – both the indemnification and exculpatory paragraphs it examined contained specific references to the defendant's "negligence" or "neglect." *Ivey Plants*, 282 So. 2d at 207.

against the shopping center only, which was deemed to be the solely at-fault entity. *Id.* at 509 n.1. The shopping center then filed a third party action against the barber shop based on an indemnity clause in the lease. *Id.* at 508. This Court concluded that the use of "general terms" was insufficient to notify the barber shop that it would be required to pay for the shopping center's negligence. *Id.* at 511. The faultless barber shop was therefore not required to pay for a third party's loss that it had no part in causing. *Id.* at 512.

In *Charles Poe Masonry*, an injured construction worker fell from a scaffold and sued the scaffold's manufacturer. 374 So. 2d at 488. The manufacturer filed a third party complaint against the subcontractor which had erected and maintained the scaffold. But because at least a portion of the accident was due to manufacturing defects and the clause did not indemnify for the manufacturer's affirmative fault, the indemnity provision did not apply. *Id.* at 489.

Similarly, in *Cox Cable*, a worker was injured while installing cable lines. 591 So. 2d at 628. Cox had contracted with the worker's employer to install equipment pursuant to a contract Cox maintained with Gulf Power. *Id.* The worker elected to pursue a lawsuit against Gulf Power only. *Id.* As in the two earlier cases, Gulf Power filed a third party suit against Cox based on an indemnity provision in their contract. *Id.* at 628-29. This Court invalidated the indemnity provision as insufficiently ambiguous given its use of "general terms." *Id.* 629.

The common theme in these cases is the liability two contracting entities owed to prospectively injured third parties. Vicarious liability is at the forefront of the discussion. *See Charles Poe Masonry*, 374 So. 2d at 489. Because both parties can conceivably cause injury to a third person, it makes sense to require specificity in indemnity arrangements. That way, the indemnitor understands whether it is accepting liability only for its negligence or for the negligence of the indemnitee as well. The allocation of risk, including the attendant burden of obtaining appropriate insurance coverage, is negotiated between two generally sophisticated businesses.

In contrast, exculpatory clauses are products of entirely different considerations. They are often drafted by purveyors of voluntary amusements or, as here, non-profit entities that condition the benefit of their efforts on a promise not to sue them. Individuals are informed that if they wish to engage in the particular activity, they will not be able to recover for injuries resulting from the offeror's oversights or carelessness incident to ordinary negligence. This is completely different than the allocation of potential fault between two for-profit enterprises and their insurers.

It cannot be overstated that exculpatory clauses in no way "encourage[] the releasee to ignore safety concerns." (Initial Brief on the Merits at 16.) Give Kids's mission is to provide memories of a lifetime to families enduring unimaginable

hardships. A wish vacation cannot meet this goal if it is not carried out safely. An injury deflates or even shatters the experience. Safety is therefore a focus inherent in Give Kids's philanthropy.

Further, Give Kids's reputation would suffer irreparable damage if it systematically failed to adhere to reasonable maintenance protocols or betrayed other indicia of routine negligence. Give Kids's reputation may be its most important asset; it drives donations, attracts volunteers, and affords Give Kids the opportunity to collaborate with other respected non-profit and for-profit entities. Give Kids's exculpatory clause has no effect on its pursuit of safety.

Instead, the purpose of exculpation is to limit the offeror's liability and therefore directly lower costs, overhead, and – most importantly – risk to itself and its representatives. Critically, non-profit volunteers will be dissuaded from their humanitarian endeavors if their benevolence exposes them to potential litigation. *See Zivich v. Mentor Soccer Club, Inc., infra.* 

The present facts are illustrative. Give Kids offered to provide a free Orlando vacation for no less than eleven members of the Sanislo family. As a condition to this gift, Give Kids required that the Sanislos promise not to file suit if they are injured due to the simple negligence of its representatives or volunteers. The Sanislos and Give Kids are private entities; entering into this arrangement was a fundamentally voluntary act for everyone involved. By limiting its potential

liability, Give Kids is able to decrease its risk, protect its volunteers, and apportion its charitable resources to as many suffering families as possible.

Amicus Curiae Florida Justice Association fantastically argues that, "If the release was worded accurately, it would read, 'I hereby give you the right to injure or kill me." (Brief of Amicus Curiae at 7.)<sup>6</sup> This is a respectfully absurd interpretation of the contract. Florida entities may never exculpate themselves from intentional torts for obvious public policy reasons. *Loewe*, 987 So. 2d at 760. This has nothing to do with ambiguity, negligence, or anything related to this appeal.

It is worth noting that the term "release" can technically pertain to post-incident agreements which are also governed by similar but not identical principles. Compare Hackett v. Grand Seas Resort Owner's Ass'n, Inc., 93 So. 3d 378, 380 (Fla. 5th DCA 2012) ("while there is a distinction between a post-claim 'release' and a pre-claim 'exculpatory clause,' ... [they are] generally underpinned by the same principles of law"), with Witt v. Dolphin Research Ctr., Inc., 582 So. 2d 27, 28 n.1 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) ("Hardage [Enters. v. Fidesys Corp., N.V., 570 So. 2d 436 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990)], however, involves a completely different

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As of the date of service hereon, this Court has not ruled on F.J.A.'s Motion for Leave to File an Amicus Curiae Brief in Support of Petitioners. F.J.A.'s proposed brief is considered herein as an exercise of caution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> To avoid confusion, this brief refers to pre-incident agreements as "exculpatory clauses" and post-incident agreements as "releases" throughout.

situation of a post-claim release of liability for damages which have already occurred and is thus not applicable in any way to the present case"). Therefore, while exculpatory clauses, indemnity agreements, and post-injury releases are all related, they are not identical, and sensibilities adhering to one do not necessarily adhere to the others.

With this background, we now turn to the first Florida decision invalidating an exculpatory clause for failing to expressly reference the defendant's negligence, *Goyings v. Jack & Ruth Eckerd Found.*, 403 So. 2d 1144 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). *Goyings* specifically held that such a provision "must clearly state that it releases the party from liability for his own negligence." *Id.* at 1146. It cited two cases to reach this conclusion, *L. Luria & Son, Inc. ex rel. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v. Alarmtec Int'l Corp.*, 384 So. 2d 947 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), and *Middleton v. Lomaskin*, 266 So. 2d 678 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972). Neither supports the holding.

L. Luria & Son upheld an exculpatory clause which disclaimed liability for "malfeasance or misfeasance in the performance of the services under the contract." 384 So. 2d at 948-49. "M]alfeasance or misfeasance" was sufficiently clear and unequivocal to cover the defendant's negligence even though the word "negligence" did not appear. In Middleton, the exculpatory clause included the defendant's "negligent acts" within its terms. 266 So. 2d at 679. Middleton held that this "clearly states that the lessors are not to be liable to the lessee for acts of

lessors' own negligence." *Id.* at 680. Neither case stated that the respective references to the defendants' own wrongdoing was necessarily dispositive, yet that is exactly the leap taken by the *Goyings* panel.

More to the point, *Goyings* erroneously observed that "the specificity requirement enunciated in *University Plaza* is to ensure that the contracting party is alerted to the meaning of the <u>exculpatory</u> clause." *Goyings*, 403 So. 2d at 1146 (emphasis added). As has been shown, however, *University Plaza* is limited to principles of indemnity; there was no exculpatory clause in that case. *University Plaza* does not so much as address exculpation, much less stand for the proposition cited in *Goyings*.

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